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Archaeological Assessment of the Proposed Hydro Scheme at Garry Gualach, Glen Garry, Inverness-shire

Introduction

The author was asked by Innogy Hydro to carry out an archaeological desk-based assessment and walk-over survey of the area of the proposed hydro-electric scheme at Garry Gualach, Glen Garry, Inverness-shire. The object of the assessment was to identify visible archaeological features or areas of potential archaeological sensitivity where features might not be visible, and assess the possible impact of the hydro scheme on the archaeological record. Recommendations will be made where necessary, to minimise this impact. These recommendations would include a range of actions, from minor alterations to the routes of the penstock, access routes and locations of structures or the further archaeological recording of features which it proves impractical to avoid damaging, to the marking of visible features to avoid accidental damage during construction work. Any decisions on the implementation of these recommendations will be made through consultation with the senior archaeologist in charge of the project within the Department of Planning and Development at Highland Council.

Method

Information on known archaeological features within the survey area was obtained from the Sites and Monuments record held by the Archaeology Unit within the Department of Planning and Development at Highland Council in Inverness. Maps and valuation rolls held by the Highland Archive in Inverness were consulted. Further information on the history of the area and changing patterns of settlement and land use was obtained from the following publications:

Royal Commission on the Highlands and Islands, 1883 

ARB Haldane: The Drove Roads of Scotland, 1952

James Hogg: A Tour of the Highlands in 1803

James Hunter: The Making of the Crofting Community, 1976

This was followed by a rapid walk-over survey, carried out on 1.5.01 in good weather conditions.

Topography

The hydro scheme is designed to draw water from a section of the Allt Garaidh Ghualaich, which flows NE to what is now the head of the flooded Loch Garry, but originally into the River Garry. The stream cuts a route down the SW side of a broad valley, possibly formed by glacial meltwater, with mounds of alluvial material, but now filled with a deep peat deposit. The land drops approximately 80m. over 1km from the proposed intake to the power house site.

Archaeological and Historical Background

No archaeological features have been previously recorded in the survey area. This was originally part of the lands of MacDonnell of Glengarry, one of the landowners whose increased rentals at the end of the 18th century led to the emigration to the Americas of the majority of his tacksmen together with a large number of their small tenantry. MacDonnell remarked on this with alarm in 1802, but the process of voluntary emigration appears to have commenced some 20 years previously. James Hogg, touring the Highlands in 1803, met a Mr Thomas Gillespie, a sheep farmer from the Borders who over the past 20 years had been adding to his lands by acquiring every lease that expired, until he had possession of all the land between Loch Garry and the sea.

In Glengarry, Ontario, Canada, the former tenants of Glengarry so impressed Edward Ellice, a founder member of the Hudson Bay Co. that he returned to Scotland and bought the estate from the now bankrupt MacDonnell, Glen Quoich in 1842 and Glen Garry in 1861, determined to be a good landlord to the remaining tenantry, now confined to the low ground at the ends of the two glens. The depopulated central parts had already been partly converted to deer forest before 1839, as the value of sheep fell. Glen Quoich deer forest was established in 1846. Greenfield, Garry Gualach and Inchlaggan continued to be leased as one holding, presumably as a sheep farm, until around 1880, when it fell vacant and no new tenant could be found. After being advertised for two years, it was added to Glen Garry deer forest.

When Loch Garry was dammed for hydro-electricity in the 1950s, several low-lying houses, including the shepherd’s cottage at Garry Gualach, were vacated under threat of flooding. In 1965 almost all the surrounding land was sold to the forestry Commission, only the 12 acres of Garry Gualach remained in the possession of the Ellice family.

In 1892, George Malcolm, factor at Invergarry, justifying the decision to incorporate Greenfield and Garry Gualach into the deer forest, argued that there had never been any population living between Invergarry and Knoydart, although the Royal Commissioners themselves had noted traces of old settlements. The Blaeu map, based on a survey in the 1580s, marks Ardoch on the north side of loch Garry and Achagoronie, possibly Greenfield, on the south. Roy’s military survey in the 1750s appears to have neglected the south side of the glen, showing several settlements on the north side, but only one, again possibly Greenfield, on the south. It is however considered locally that up to 300 people lived at Garry Gualach and adjacent settlements now underwater.

The crossing of the River Garry was an important point on the drove route or cattle from Skye and Glenelg, traveling either via Cluanie and Loch Loyne or by Kinloch Huorn and Glen Quoich to Tomdoun and Inchlaggan. After crossing the river the route continued through the hills to Fedden, Glen Ci-aig and Loch Arkaig. It is likely that the ford at Beul Ath a’ Bhalachain was one of the main crossing points. Garry Gualach may have provided another crossing point, and it is likely that the greater part of the cattle droves passed directly through Garry Gualach. The last drove along this route took place in 1906.

The Archaeological Assessment

The following archaeological features were located within the area to be affected by the proposed scheme. The potential effect of the scheme and recommended mitigating actions are given for each site.

1. Shieling Site at NN 1648 9993 No definite buildings were located, but several features typical of a shieling site are scattered around, mostly on the well-drained platforms to the NW of the proposed powerhouse site. These include field clearance cairns (Photo no.1) mostly moss and bracken covered, in groups of up to six (Photo no.3) A circular storage structure (Photo no.2) lies to the SW of one of these areas. Further SW of this area, above the pony track, is a short length of turf and stone dyke (Photo no. 4). This does not appear to continue to the lower ground, but a further section of low turf dyke follows the north bank of the stream to the west of the proposed powerhouse site. On the bank above this, some sections of turf walling may represent a small rectangular enclosure. Other bracken covered mounds and banks may be the indistinct remains of other features.

None of the noted features lie within the immediate area of the powerhouse or the wayleave of the penstock, so it should be possible for them to be unaffected. It is recommended that the features be identified and marked to avoid accidental damage from the temporary siting of construction materials, the turning of vehicles, etc.

2. Pony Path from NH 1595 0050 to NN 1635 9980 This path runs through the present forestry from the ford on the River Garry at Beul Ath a’Bhalachain to join the following path at a point west of the shieling site. It was not walked along its entire length, but is presumed to be of a similar construction and state of preservation as the following.

The proposed route of the overhead power line from the power house to a link-up point with present power lines at Tomdoun follows the route of this path. It is assumed that the erection of the overhead power line will have a minimal effect on the constructed features of the path, and that no mitigating measures are necessary.

3. Pony Path from NH 1685 0045 to NN 155 9800 This path runs from Garry Gualach to an indeterminate point in the former deer forest to the south. It follows a route on the higher, better-drained ground to the NW of the Allt Garaidh Ghualaich. Where it crosses softer ground, adjacent alluvial mounds have been excavated to provide material. Some stone culverts have been constructed where stone has been available, further upstream, wooden ramps have been laid over watercourses. 

This path lies almost entirely outside any proposed area of development, so it is assumed that it will be unaffected and no mitigating measures are necessary.

4. Water Channel from NN 1668 9985 to approximately NH 182 010 This is visible as a choked channel, 1.5m wide at its present base, with banks no more than 0.5m above the present ground level on the lower side of the channel (Photo no. 6) It leads ENE from the Allt Garaidh Ghualaich, (Photo no. 5, line across center of picture) into the forestry, where it apparently drops gently to a point on the shore of Loch Garry between Garry Gualach and Torr na Caraidh, its original termination being now underwater, but well over 2km from its intake. There is now no sign of a weir at the point of intake. Locally considered to have been constructed before the Clearances to provide a water supply to the settlements to the east of Garry Gualach, although it is difficult to imagine what circumstances would have necessitated such an effort. This channel is not marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map, so would appear not to be associated with any mid to late 19th century activity.

This structure should not be affected by the present project, but it is recommended that its point of intake on the Allt Garaidh Ghualaich be marked to prevent accidental damage during the construction of the powerhouse and tailrace

5. Building ‘Ferryman’s House’ at NH 1595 0055 The rubble footings of a building aligned ENE-WSW, measuring approximately 9m.by 3.5m.with a possible extension to the ENE. The SSW corner of the building stands much higher than the rest, up to three courses, and of a much more careful construction,  with  squared stones (Photo no. 7) Within this corner a pile of rubble suggests some form of later re-use, possibly as a lamb shelter (Photo no. 8) Locally considered to have been the house of a ferryman, and dating to before the Clearances. The river here is shallow and easily forded, and it seems unlikely that a ferry would hve been necessary, but there would appear to be a relationship between the ford, the location of the building, and the pony track (no.2) which diverts to pass immediately beside the building.

This building lies close to the proposed route of the power lines from the power house to Tomdoun. It is recommended that no pole for the power line be placed nearer than 20m. from this structure

6. Cart Tracks at NH 1583 0090 One track runs SE from Tomdoun into the present forestry, the second branches off this to run south to the river just to the west of the ford.

These two tracks are mentioned here mainly for the purpose of including them in the archaeological record. The existing power line pole to which the power line from the power house will probably be connected is located at the junction of the two tracks. It is assumed that they will be used for access to the power lines, but it is not considered that any feature of their construction will be damaged, and it is not considered that any mitigating action is necessary.

Archaeological Conclusions

Although this survey area covers only a fraction of the former deer forest, the evidence for pre-Clearance land use is enough to disprove the statement of the factor George Malcolm in 1892 that there were no traces of a population pre-dating the sheep farms. Unfortunately much of the settlement from this period must now lie under the waters of Loch Garry and questions such as the function of the water channel may be difficult  to answer. It would appear that the period of sheep farming has left little trace on the archaeological record, at least within the area of this survey: the pony tracks would have been constructed for access to the deer forest.
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